SECTION 4 THE COUNCIL MEETING

Ref	Contents	Page No.
	Chapter 4.1 - Policy Framework and Functions of the Council	
<u>4.1.1</u>	Policy Framework	1
<u>4.1.2</u>	Budget	2
<u>4.1.3</u>	Functions of the Council	2
<u>4.1.4</u>	Council Meetings	4
<u>4.1.5</u>	Responsibility for Functions	4
	Chapter 4.2 - Rules of Procedure Relating to Meetings of the Council and its Committees	
	Application of Rules of Procedure to Committees and Sub- Committees	5
	General Rules Governing Council, Committees & Sub Committees	5
<u>4.2.1</u>	Annual Meeting of the Council	5
<u>4.2.2</u>	Ordinary Meetings	7
<u>4.2.3</u>	Extraordinary Meetings	8
<u>4.2.4</u>	Time and place of Meetings	9
<u>4.2.5</u>	Notice of and Summons to Meetings	9
<u>4.2.6</u>	Chairman of Meeting	9
<u>4.2.7</u>	Quorum	9
<u>4.2.8</u>	Duration of Meeting	9
<u>4.2.9</u>	Questions by the Public	10
<u>4.2.10</u>	Questions by Members	13
<u>4.2.11</u>	Motions on Notice	16
<u>4.2.12</u>	Motions Without Notice	17
<u>4.2.13</u>	Rules of Debate	18
<u>4.2.14</u>	Previous Decisions and Motions	22
<u>4.2.15</u>	Voting	22
<u>4.2.16</u>	Minutes	23
<u>4.2.17</u>	Record of Attendance	23
<u>4.2.18</u>	Exclusion of Public	24

<u>4.2.19</u>	Petitions	24
4.2.20	Members' Conduct	24
<u>4.2.21</u>	Disturbance by Public	25
<u>4.2.22</u>	Business of Objectionable Nature	25
<u>4.2.23</u>	Statements by the Leader of the Council, Executive Members and Deputy Executive Members	26
4.2.24	Statements from the Council Owned Companies	26
<u>4.2.25</u>	Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules	26
<u>4.2.26</u>	Committees and Boards – Appointment of Chairman	26
4.2.27	Extraordinary Meetings of Council Committees and Boards	26
<u>4.2.28</u>	Attendance of Non-Members of Committees and Boards	27
	Chapter 4.3 – Roles and Function of the Mayor	
<u>4.3.1</u>	Role and Function of the Mayor	28
<u>4.3.2</u>	Ceremonial Role	28
<u>4.3.3</u>	Chairing the Council meeting	28
<u>4.3.4</u>	First Citizen	28
<u>4.3.5</u>	Promotion of the Council	28
<u>4.3.6</u>	The Scrutiny Process	28
	Chapter 4.4 - Committees of the Council – Audit Committee, Special Council Executive Committee and Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board	
	Audit Committee	
<u>4.4.1</u>	Composition and Meetings	29
<u>4.4.2</u>	Restrictions on Membership	29
<u>4.4.3</u>	Functions	29
<u>4.4.4</u>	Reporting Lines	32
<u>4.4.5</u>	Review of Terms of Reference	32
<u>4.4.6</u>	Public and Member Questions	33
<u>4.4.7</u>	Petitions	33
<u>4.4.8</u>	Quorum	33
4.4.9	Speaking Rights	33

<u>4.4.10</u>	Disturbance by Public	33
<u>4.4.11</u>	Duration of Meeting	33
	Special Council Executive	
<u>4.4.12</u>	Composition and Functions	33
<u>4.4.13</u>	Appointment of Substitutes	33
<u>4.4.14</u>	Public and Member Questions	34
<u>4.4.15</u>	Petitions	34
<u>4.4.16</u>	Quorum	34
<u>4.4.17</u>	Disturbance by Public	34
<u>4.4.18</u>	Rules of Debate	34
<u>4.4.19</u>	Duration of Meeting	34
<u>4.4.20</u>	Other Committees, Sub-Committees and Working Groups	35
	Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board	
<u>4.4.21</u>	Introduction	36
4.4.22	Roles and Responsibilities	36
4.4.23	Membership	37
4.4.24	Co-optees	38
<u>4.4.25</u>	Appointment of Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board	39
<u>4.4.26</u>	Voting	39
<u>4.4.27</u>	Substitutes	39
<u>4.4.28</u>	Chairing the meeting	39
<u>4.4.29</u>	Accountability	40
<u>4.4.30</u>	Supply of Information to Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board	40
<u>4.4.31</u>	Scrutiny	40
<u>4.4.32</u>	Quorum	40
4.4.33	Frequency of Meetings	41
<u>4.4.34</u>	Attendance of Public and Press	41
<u>4.4.35</u>	Public and Member Questions	41
<u>4.4.36</u>	Petitions	41
<u>4.4.37</u>	Speaking Rights	41
4.4.38	Disturbance by the Public	41

<u>4.4.39</u>	Signing the Minutes	42
4.4.40	Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board Partnership Groups	42
<u>4.4.41</u>	Code of Conduct	42
<u>4.4.42</u>	Review of Terms of Reference	42
<u>Appendix</u>	Protocol for Holding Virtual Meetings	43

CHAPTER 4.1 - POLICY FRAMEWORK AND FUNCTIONS OF THE COUNCIL

4.1.1 Policy Framework

The Council will approve the policy framework which comprises the following plans, policies and strategies:

- a) the Community Strategy;
- b) the Council Plan;
- c) the Children and Young People's Plan;
- d) the Youth Justice Plan;
- e) the Local Transport Plan 3;
- f) plans which together comprise the Local Development Framework e.g. Core Strategy Development Plan Document;
- g) the Housing Strategy;
- h) the Licensing Authority Policy Statement;
- i) the Gambling Act Statement of Principles;
- j) the Homelessness Strategy;
- k) the Pay Policy Statement;
- I) the Equalities Strategy;
- m) Climate Emergency Action Plan;
- n) Place Making Strategy.

The Council shall also consider adopting any proposed modifications to these plans, policies and strategies.

The Council shall also consider for adoption any other plans or strategies which it considers should form part of the Policy Framework or which the Executive or a Committee or Sub-Committee at its discretion may refer to it for adoption.

4.1.2 Budget

The budget includes the balances, the budget timetable, the allocation of financial resources to different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council's borrowing requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits. As part of this process, Council will be required to approve the following plans and strategies:

- a) Medium Term Financial Plan including the Annual Revenue Budget and Housing Revenue Account;
- b) Capital Strategy;
- c) Treasury Management Strategy including receiving reports on treasury management policies; practices and activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in Treasury Management Practices.

4.1.3 Functions of the Council

Only the Council will exercise the following functions:

- a) adopting and changing the Constitution, subject to amendments being made to Chapter 1.3 by the Democratic Services Manager as a result of changes being made to the Council's Management Structure;
- b) adopting the policy framework, the budget and any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any Housing Land Transfer;
- c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Chapter 3.2 of this Constitution, making decisions about any matter in the discharge of an Executive function which is covered by the policy framework or the budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with the budget;
- d) appointing and removing the Leader;
- e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for the Executive or Committees, deciding on their composition and making appointments to them subject to in-year changes to Committee Membership, a substitution of one member of a political group by another member of the same group as agreed at the previous Annual Council meeting, being notified to the Democratic Services Manager in writing by either the Leader of the appropriate Political Group or the relevant Political Assistant. Any such change will become effective at the next Committee meeting or within 14 days whichever is the later;
- f) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an Executive function or has been delegated by the Council;
- g) adopting a Members' allowances scheme and any changes to it;
- h) changing the name of the Borough;

- i) confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service;
- j) entering into, ceasing or amending, joint arrangements with other local authorities for the discharge of functions;
- making standing orders (referred to in this document as Council Rules of Procedure);
- I) making standing orders as to the regulation of the Council's finances and contracts;
- m) appointing Officers for particular purposes ("Proper Officers" see Chapter 11.3);
- n) designating an Officer as the Head of the authority's Paid Service and providing staff;
- o) adopting the Members' Code of Conduct and any subsequent amendments to it;
- p) agreeing the Council's Annual Timetable of Meetings. The following process will be adopted for any in-year changes to the timetable;

The Chairman of the relevant committee, sub committee, board, panel or working group may make any adjustment to the date or time of a meeting provided he/she has notified the appropriate Democratic Services' Officer who will consult with the Vice Chairman and an Opposition Member of the Committee. The change of date will then be communicated to the other members of the Committee and published on the Council's website;

- q) to appoint members of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to a statutory joint health select committee to consider and respond to proposals from a responsible person (as detailed in the regulations below) for the development or variation in health services that affect more than one local authority area including Wokingham Borough, as required under The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013;
- r) the sale or purchase of any shares.

4.1.4 Council Meetings

There are four types of Council meeting:

- a) the annual meeting;
- b) ordinary meetings;
- c) extraordinary meetings;
- d) the Budget meeting.

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in <u>Chapter 4.2</u> of this Constitution.

4.1.5 Responsibility for Functions

The Council will maintain tables in Chapter 11.2 of this Constitution setting out the responsibilities for the Council's functions which are not the responsibility of the Executive.

CHAPTER 4.2 – COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE

Application of Rules of Procedure to Committees and Sub-Committees

All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of the Council and its Committees and Sub-Committees (except for Rules of debate which applies only to Council and Special Council Executive).

None of the Rules apply to meetings of the Executive, which is governed by separate Procedure Rules set out in Chapter 5.4.

The following rules apply to meetings of the Council **ONLY**:

<u>4.2.1</u> - <u>4.2.2</u>	Business at Ordinary and Annual meeting;
<u>4.2.10.9</u>	Ward Matters
<u>4.2.19</u>	Petitions
<u>4.2.20.1</u>	Standing to speak
<u>4.2.23</u>	Statements by the Leader of the Council and Executive Members.

References to the terms of Mayor and Deputy Mayor within the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of the Council only. The terms Chairman and Vice Chairman apply to meetings of Committees, Sub-Committees and Boards.

General Rules Governing Council, Committees and Sub-Committees (subject to the provisions set out above.)

4.2.1. Annual Meeting of The Council

4.2.1.1 Timing and Order of Business

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the Annual Meeting will take place in May. No Motions can be dealt with at the Annual Meeting of the Council except for Motions of No Confidence in the Leader as set out in <u>rule 4.2.11.2</u>

Except as provided by <u>Rule 4.2.2.2</u>, the order of business at the Annual Meeting will be:

- a) to elect a person to preside if neither the Mayor nor Deputy Mayor are present. In that event, the Chief Executive, or duly authorised officer, will invite nominations for a Member to take the Chair;
- b) to elect the Mayor;
- c) to deal with any business required by statute to be dealt with before any other business
- d) to elect the Deputy Mayor;
- e) to approve the minutes of the last meeting;
- f) to receive any apologies for absence;

- g) to receive any declarations of interest;
- h) to receive the Returning Officer's Return of Councillors elected;
- i) to receive any urgent announcements from the Mayor or Head of the Paid Service;
- j) to elect the Leader of the Council (if applicable) and receive notification from the Leader of his/her Deputy and the remainder of the Members appointed to the Executive, the scope of their respective portfolios and the terms of delegation to them and Officers if applicable. The Leader of Council / Executive Members will be allowed to speak for up to 10 minutes in total. The Leader of the Opposition will be allowed to speak for up to 5 minutes;
- k) to deal with any questions from the public in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.9;</u>
- I) to receive petitions presented under <u>Rule 4.2.19</u>
- m) to receive and deal with any urgent recommendations from the Executive;
- n) to consider any items that by statute have to be taken at this meeting;
- o) to agree the scheme of delegation to Committees, Boards and Officers and any other proposed changes to the Constitution;
- p) to deal with any questions submitted by Members in accordance with <u>Rule</u> <u>4.2.10;</u>
- q) to allocate seats to political groups in accordance with the political balance regulations;
- r) to appoint at least one Scrutiny Committee, a Standards Committee and such other Committees and Boards as the Council considers appropriate to deal with matters which are neither reserved to the Council nor are Executive functions];
- s) to decide the size and terms of reference of those Committees and Boards;
- t) to appoint Members to those Committees and Boards;
- u) to appoint Members to serve on Panels and working groups;
- v) to appoint Members to outside bodies, except where appointment to those bodies has been delegated by the Council;

4.2.2 Ordinary Meetings

4.2.2.1 Timing and Order of Business

Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme decided by the Council. In determining that programme, the Council will set aside the February meeting to deal with the Budget. Other than statutory business, recommendations from the Executive, Public Questions, receipt of petitions and motion of No Confidence in the Leader, no other business will be conducted at this meeting. The four budget reports (Housing Revenue Account, Capital Programme and Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan and Revenue Budget Submission) will be taken as one agenda item and a period of 1½ hours will be allowed for debating this item.

Each item considered under j)-m) will have a time limit of 30 minutes for debate. Where the item is only 'to note' it will have a time limit of 10 minutes for debate [please note that this Rule only applies to meetings of Council and the Special Council Executive Committee].

Except as provided by <u>Rule 4.2.2.1</u>, the order of business at Ordinary meetings will be:

- a) to elect a person to preside if neither the Mayor nor the Deputy Mayor are present. In that event, the Chief Executive, or duly authorised officer, will invite nominations for a Member to take the Chair;
- b) to deal with any business required by statute to be dealt with before any other business;
- c) to approve the minutes of the last meeting;
- d) to receive any apologies for absence;
- e) to receive any declarations of interest;
- f) to receive any announcements from the Mayor or the Head of Paid Service;
- g) to deal with any questions from the public in accordance with Rule 4.2.9;
- h) to receive petitions presented under <u>Rule 4.2.19</u>;
- i) debating a petition
- j) to deal with any business remaining from the last Council meeting excluding Motions which will be dealt with under item (s) below;
- k) to receive and deal with reports by Officers;
- I) to receive and deal with recommendations from the Executive;
- m) to consider any recommendations to the Council from Committees and Boards;
- n) to deal with any questions submitted by Members in accordance with <u>Rule</u> <u>4.2.10;</u>

- to receive Minutes of Committees and Sub-Committees and to deal with Ward matters, subject to the provisions of <u>Rule 4.2.10.9</u>;
- p) to consider any statements by the Leader of the Council, Executive Members and Deputy Executive Members;
- q) to receive statements from the Council Owned Companies;
- r) to receive any reports about and deal with questions and answers on the business of joint arrangements and external organisations;
- s) to consider motions.

4.2.2.2 Change to Order of Business

The business listed in Rule of Procedure <u>Rule 4.2.1.1</u> (a) to (g) and <u>Rule 4.2.2.1</u> (a) to (e) must be dealt with first but subject to that the order of business may be varied:-

- a) by the Mayor at his/her discretion
- b) by a resolution passed on motion (which need not be in writing), duly moved and seconded, which shall be moved and put without discussion.

4.2.3 Extraordinary Meetings

4.2.3.1 Calling Extraordinary Meetings

Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call an Extraordinary meeting of the Council:-

- a) the Council by resolution;
- b) the Mayor;
- c) the Monitoring Officer; and
- d) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a request presented to the Mayor and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the request. This request must state the reason the meeting is being called. Such a meeting shall take place on a date and time no later than 12 working days after the date on which the meeting was requested.

4.2.3.2 Business

The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting of the Council shall be a single item only, unless exceptionally agreed by the Mayor and there shall be no consideration of previous minutes of either the Council, its Committees or Boards, nor reports.

Public questions will only be accepted at an extraordinary meeting of the Council if they relate to the item due to be discussed at that meeting.

No Petitions or Motions will be accepted at an extraordinary meeting.

4.2.4 Time and Place of Meetings

The time and place of meetings will be in accordance with a programme decided by the Council and will be notified in the summons for each meeting.

4.2.5 Notice of and Summons to Meetings

The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. At least five clear working days before a meeting, not including the day of the meeting or the day of dispatch, the Chief Executive will dispatch a summons signed by him/her to every Member of the Council in hard copy or electronically. The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by the Minutes of the previous Ordinary, Extraordinary or Annual meeting and reports relating to Agenda items.

4.2.6 Chairman of Meeting

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Mayor. Where these Rules apply to Committee and Board meetings, references to the Chairman also include the Chairman of Committees and Boards.

4.2.7 Quorum

Except where more than one third of the whole number of Members of the Council have become disqualified at the same time (where special provisions apply), the quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of Members or three, whichever is the greater. During any meeting if the Mayor/Chairman counts the number of Members present and declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor/Chairman. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

If there is no Quorum at the published start time for the meeting, a period of no more than 10 minutes will be allowed. If there remains no quorum at the expiry of this period, the meeting will be declared null and void. In this situation the provisions of the above paragraph shall apply regarding business to be considered.

4.2.8 Duration of Meeting

In the case of ordinary Council and Special Council Executive Committee meetings, if it has not concluded after 3 hours from the start of the meeting, and business on the agenda remains outstanding, the meeting will automatically be extended by a further 30 minutes, after which the meeting will adjourn immediately. In respect of the Annual Council Meeting, if it has not concluded after 2 1/2 hours from the start of the meeting and business on the agenda remains outstanding, the meeting will be automatically extended by a further 30 minutes, after which the meeting will immediately adjourn. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor/Chairman. This does not include motions, which will be deemed to have fallen if time does not permit consideration of them, see <u>Rule 4.2.8.1</u>. If the Mayor/Chairman does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting, unless there is agreement between the Group Leaders that there are no matters for decision outstanding.

In respect of meetings of Council Committees and Sub Committees, unless the majority of Members present vote for the meeting to continue, any meeting that has not concluded by 10.30pm will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If the Chairman does not fix a date, the remaining business

will be considered at the next ordinary meeting, unless there is agreement between the Group Leaders that there are no matters for decision outstanding.

4.2.8.1 Consideration of motions

A motion cannot be moved if there is only 15 minutes remaining before the meeting is due to conclude. If at the time the meeting is due to conclude within 15 minutes, a Motion is under discussion, the debate on that Motion will cease immediately and the Mayor will put the Motion to the vote without further discussion.

If an amendment is being considered at the time the meeting is due to conclude the debate on the amendment will cease immediately and the Mayor will put the amendment to the vote without further discussion. If the amendment is agreed it will automatically become the substantive motion (as amended) and the resolution of Council, without the need for a further vote. If the amendment is not agreed, then a further vote will be taken on the substantive motion.

If a Motion listed on the Agenda has not been moved it will be deemed to have fallen and will not be further considered unless it is re-submitted at the next meeting.

4.2.9 Questions by the Public

4.2.9.1 General

At ordinary meetings of the Council a resident or person who works in the Wokingham Borough may ask one question of a Member of the Executive, a Deputy Executive Member, the Chairman of a Council Committee or Board or the Council's appointed representative on an outside organisation. Where the Council has appointed more than one Member to a particular organisation, the questioner will nominate the Member he/she wishes to provide the answer, and state this in the question.

No question to Council shall contain more than 200 words. With the exception of the Executive this word limit does not apply to other committees of Council.

Public questions will only be accepted at an extraordinary meeting of the Council if they relate to the item due to be discussed at that meeting.

No questions may be asked at meetings of the Planning Committee.

The total time allotted to questions from the public will be limited to 30 minutes.

4.2.9.2 Order of Questions

Questions will be asked in the order they were received, except that the Mayor/Chairman may group together similar questions at his/her discretion.

4.2.9.3 Notice of Question

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by electronic mail to the Chief Executive by no later than 10.00 am on the seventh working day prior to the meeting in question (excluding the day of the meeting). Each question must give the name and contact details of the questioner and, in relation to questions to be put at the Council meeting, must name the Member of the Council to whom it is to be put.

Questions relating to urgent matters may be submitted in writing to the Democratic and Electoral Services Lead Specialist by no later than 10.00am two working days before the

meeting, and must receive the consent of the Mayor or Chairman of the relevant Committee and Member to whom the question is to be put. Questions of this nature may only relate to urgent issues which have arisen after the publication of the Agenda. Questions put at Committee and Board meetings will usually be answered by the Chairman of the Committee or Board, or, in the Chairman's absence, by another Member designated by the Chairman.

A question may be submitted on a matter included in the Public Session of a particular meeting's Agenda, (except in relation to 'business' matters such as approval of the minutes) provided that notice to this effect is received by the Chief Executive by no later than 10.00am two working days prior to the day of the meeting.

4.2.9.4 Number of Questions

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question.

4.2.9.5 Scope of Questions

The Chief Executive and/or Mayor/Chairman may reject a question if it:

- a) is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility for or which affects the Borough;
- b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
- c) is substantially the same as a question which has already been put at or submitted to the meeting or at a meeting of the Council or Executive or any other Committee in the past six months*; or
- d) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

*Should a question be rejected under section c) questioners will be informed that the same question or substantially same question has been received in the past six months and will be provided with a copy of the answer that was previously provided.

Questions will not be accepted if they relate to a planning or licensing application before it has been determined by the Planning or Licensing and Appeals Committee or by Officers under delegated powers, and no questions of any description may be asked at the Planning Committee.

If a question is rejected a response will be given to the questioner setting out the reasons for the rejection.

4.2.9.6 Record of Questions

The Chief Executive will compile a list of questions submitted which will be open to public inspection and will immediately send a copy of the question to the Member to whom it is to be put. Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Members, will be made available to the public attending the meeting and set out in the Agenda. Details of all questions and answers will also be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

4.2.9.7 Asking the Question at the Meeting

At the appropriate time, the Mayor/Chairman will invite the questioner to put the question to the Member named in the notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, he/she may nominate a person who is not already asking a question to put the question on his/her behalf. Alternatively the Mayor/Chairman may put the question on their behalf, or may indicate that a written reply will be given.

4.2.9.8 Supplementary Question

A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one supplementary question without notice to the Member who has replied to his/her original question but must not include any substantial new subject matter. A supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. The Mayor/Chairman may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in <u>Rule 4.2.9.5</u> or if he/she feels that new subject matter is being introduced.

No person asking a supplementary question shall speak for longer than one minute. If the Mayor/Chairman considers that the questioner is making a statement he/she may rule that the questioner be not heard further.

4.2.9.9 Written Answers

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because of lack of time, because of the non-attendance of the Member to whom it was to be put or because the Member answering the Question requires further information not available at the time, will be deemed to have been put, and shall be the subject of a written reply within seven working days to the person asking the question. The answer shall also be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. Please note that the written reply does not apply to supplementary questions, which can take longer to respond to, due to the often complex nature of the subject matter and such replies will not be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

If the Mayor deems it appropriate, in the absence of the Member to whom a question was to be put, the question can be put to the Leader of the Council.

4.2.9.10 Reference of Question to the Executive or a Council Committee or Board

Unless the Mayor/Chairman decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any guestion, but any Member may move that a matter raised by a guestion be referred to the

Executive or the appropriate Committee or Board. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion.

4.2.9.11 Response

An answer may take the form of:

- a) a direct oral answer;
- b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a reference to that publication; or
- c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, (including where such an answer would require the disclosure of exempt information) a written answer circulated later to the questioner within seven working days, and included in the Minutes of the relevant meeting.

No person answering a question shall speak for longer than two minutes.

4.2.9.12 Exempt Information

The provisions of this Rule shall not require the disclosure of any exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1 to 7 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended.

4.2.10 Questions by Members

4.2.10.1 On reports of the Executive, Committees or Boards to Council

A Member of the Council may ask a Member of the Executive, a Deputy Executive Member, the Chairman of a Council Committee or Board or the Council's representative on an outside organisation any question without notice upon an item of the report or recommendation of the Council or a Council Committee or Board when that item is being received or under consideration by the Council. Where the Council has appointed more than one Member to a particular organisation, the questioner will nominate the Member he/she wishes to provide the answer, and state this in the question.

4.2.10.2 Questions on Notice at Council

Subject to <u>Rule 4.2.10.4</u>, a Member of the Council may ask a Member of the Executive, a Deputy Executive Member, the Chairman of any Committee or Board, the Council's representative on an outside organisation one question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the Borough. Where the Council has appointed more than one Member to a particular organisation, the questioner will nominate the Member he/she wishes to provide the answer, and state this in the question.

4.2.10.3 Questions on Notice at Committees and Sub- Committees

Subject to <u>Rule 4.2.10.4</u>, a Member of the Council may ask the Chairman of a Committee or Board one question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the Wokingham Borough and which falls within the terms of reference of that Committee or Board.

No questions may be submitted at meetings of the Planning Committee.

4.2.10.4 Notice of Questions

A Member may only ask a question under <u>Rule 4.2.10.2</u> or <u>4.2.10.3</u> if either

- a) they have sent a copy of the question to the Chief Executive by 10.00am on the seventh working day prior to the meeting (excluding the day of the meeting); or
- b) if, in the Mayor/Chairman's opinion, the question relates to an urgent matter, they have the consent of the Mayor/Chairman of the meeting and Member to whom the question is to be put, and the content of the question is given to the Chief Executive by 10.00am two working days prior to the meeting. Questions of this nature may only relate to an urgent issue which has arisen since the publication of the Agenda.

No question to Council should contain more than 200 words. With the exception of the Executive this word limit does not apply to other committees of Council.

In addition, Members of the Council may submit one question on a matter included in a particular meeting's Agenda (except in relation to the approval of the Minutes and other

business matters) provided that notice to this effect is received by the Chief Executive by no later than 10.00am two working days prior to the meeting.

Where a Member is unable through absence to put a question, the question shall be deemed to have been put and an answer given which will be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

All questions processed in (a) above shall be listed in full on the agenda for the meeting of the Council in the order in which they are to be put. Questions shall be dealt with in the order they are received.

4.2.10.5 Scope of Questions

The Chief Executive and/or Mayor/Chairman may reject a question if it:

- a) is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility for or which affects the Borough:
- b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
- c) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at or submitted to the meeting or at a meeting of the Council or Executive or any other Committee in the past six months*; or
- d) requires the disclosure of confidential information.

*Should a question be rejected under section c) questioners will be informed that the same question or substantially same question has been received in the past six months and will be provided with a copy of the answer that was previously provided.

Questions will not be accepted if they relate to a planning application before it has been determined by the Planning Committee or by Officers under delegated powers, and no questions of any description may be asked at the Planning Committee.

Rejected questions will include reasons for rejection.

Member questions relating to Part 2 (containing exempt information) reports will be taken immediately after the meeting has resolved to exclude the press and public. A full written answer will be circulated to the questioner, with a summary in the Minutes. Other than these special provisions, the normal rules relating to the submission of, and answer to, the question, will apply.

4.2.10.6 Response

An answer may take the form of:

- a) a direct oral answer;
- b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a reference to that publication; or
- c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, (including where such an answer would require the disclosure of exempt information) a written answer circulated later to the questioner within seven working days of the meeting, and

included in the Minutes of the meeting. Please note this deadline does not apply to supplementary questions, which can take longer to respond to, due to the often complex nature of the subject matter.

No person answering a question shall speak for longer than two minutes.

4.2.10.7 Supplementary Question

A Member asking a question under <u>Rule 4.2.10.2</u> or <u>4.2.10.3</u> may ask one supplementary question without notice of the Member to whom the first question was asked. The supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply and must not introduce any new subject matter. The Mayor/Chairman may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in <u>Rule 4.2.10.5</u>.

No person asking a supplementary question shall speak for longer than one minute. If the Mayor/Chairman considers that the questioner is making a statement he/she may rule that the questioner be not further heard.

4.2.10.8 Length of Question Time

The time allotted to questions submitted under Notice, including those relating to urgent issues, shall not exceed thirty minutes for Full Council Meetings and twenty minutes for all other Committees. Any questions not answered within the allotted time shall be the subject of a written reply within seven working days to the questioner and the reply shall be recorded in the Minutes of the Meeting.

4.2.10.9 Questions in Relation to the Minutes of Committee and Board meetings and Ward Matters

Immediately following the questions dealt with in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.10.2</u>, a Member may indicate to the Mayor/Chairman that he/she wishes to ask an Executive Member, a Deputy Executive Member or the Chairman of a Committee or Board a question in relation to minutes of any of the Council's Committee and Board meetings which have taken place since the last Council Meeting or a Ward matter.

Prior to a Council Meeting Members will be provided with a volume of minutes of the Council's Committee and Board Meetings which have been held six weeks prior to the Council Meeting. This will not prohibit Members from asking questions of Minutes of Meetings held since the last Council Meeting.

The time allotted to questions about Minutes and Ward matters shall not exceed twenty minutes.

Questions relating to Ward Matters must relate to a single issue affecting that Ward and should not relate to those that may have been raised within a Member's Ward but relate to a Borough-wide issue. In all cases the Mayor's ruling as to which questions to accept will be final.

Questions shall be taken by the Mayor in the order in which he/she has noted an indication and no supplementary question shall be permitted. However, a Member may indicate to ask more than one question. All first questions will be answered before Members' second and further questions are dealt with.

When an answer cannot be provided at the meeting (including where such an answer would require the disclosure of exempt information) a written response will be sent to the

questioner with seven working days of the meeting and included in the Minutes of the meeting.

4.2.11 Motions on Notice

4.2.11.1 Notice

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under <u>Rule 4.2.12</u>, written notice of every Motion, signed by the Member of the Council giving the notice must be delivered to the Chief Executive no later than 10.00am on the seventh working day before the meeting (excluding the day of the meeting). These will be dated and numbered in the order which they are received and will be open to public inspection.

Only one Motion which should contain no more than 350 words may be submitted per Member per meeting. For the purposes of this Rule, e-signatures will be acceptable.

4.2.11.2 Motion of No Confidence

Motions of no confidence in the Leader must be signed by ten Members and must be delivered to the Chief Executive no later than 10.00am on the seventh working day before the meeting (excluding the day of the meeting).

The wording of the Motion shall be "That this Council has no confidence in the Leader" No amendments will be allowed to the Motion at the meeting where the matter is discussed.

Motions of no confidence can be accepted at any Council meeting, including Annual and Budget Council meetings.

If following a Motion of no confidence the majority of Members of the Council vote to remove the Leader a Motion, under <u>Rule 4.2.12u</u>, to nominate a new Leader may be moved without notice. If a Motion to nominate a new Leader is not moved, then the election of the Leader of Council will take place at the next Council meeting.

4.2.11.3 Motion set out in Agenda

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in which notice was received, unless the Member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to move it at a later meeting or withdraw it. A statement from the Chief Finance Officer, setting out the financial implications of the proposal(s) contained in the motion, will also be included in the agenda.

Motions shall be dealt with in order they are received.

A maximum period of 30 minutes will be allowed for each Motion to be moved, seconded and debated, including dealing with any amendments. Any adjournment agreed under Rule 4.2.12k) will not be counted in the 30-minute period. At the expiry of the 30-minute period debate will cease immediately, the mover of the Motion or amendment will have the right of reply before the Motion or amendment is put to the vote.

If an amendment is being considered at the expiry of the 30-minute period and the vote for the amendment is agreed it will automatically become the substantive Motion (as amended) and the resolution of the Council, without the need for a further vote. If the amendment is not agreed, then a further vote will be taken on the substantive Motion.

4.2.11.4 Scope

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility for or which affect the Wokingham Borough.

Motions will be rejected if:

- a) they are not matters the Council has responsibility for or affect the Borough;
- b) they are defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
- c) they are substantially the same as a Motion considered at the meeting or at a meeting of Council in the last 6 months.

4.2.12 Motions Without Notice

The following Motions may be moved without notice:

- a) to appoint a Mayor/Chairman of the meeting at which the Motion is moved;
- b) in relation to the accuracy of the Minutes;
- c) to change the order of business in the agenda;
- d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual;
- e) to appoint a Committee or Member body arising from an item on the summons for the meeting;
- f) to receive reports or adopt recommendations of Committees or Officers and any resolutions following from them;
- g) to withdraw a Motion;
- h) to amend a Motion in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.13.1;</u>
- i) to proceed to the next business in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.13.12;</u>
- j) that the question be now put in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.13.12;</u>
- k) to adjourn a debate in accordance with Rule 4.2.13.12;
- I) to adjourn a meeting in accordance with Rule <u>4.2.13.12;</u>
- m) to suspend a particular Rule of Procedure, subject to the provisions of Procedure <u>Rule 4.2.25;</u>
- n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Chapter 3.2;

- o) that a Member named under <u>Rule 4.2.20.3</u> be excluded from the meeting under <u>Rule 4.2.20.4</u>;
- p) to extend the time limit for speeches;
- q) to carry out a statutory duty which in the opinion of the Mayor/Chairman is urgent;
- r) that a Motion, amendment or business of an objectionable nature be not entertained or permitted. The proposer of a Motion on these grounds must state the reasons he/she considers the Motion, amendment or business to be objectionable. The Mayor/Chairman will make a ruling on whether to allow the Motion to be put, having regard to any advice given by the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer;
- s) to request a ballot in accordance with Procedure <u>Rule 4.2.15.4;</u>
- t) to nominate a new Leader (following a vote by the majority of the Members of the Council to remove the Leader).

4.2.13 Rules Of Debate

4.2.13.1 No Speeches Until Motion Seconded

No speeches, including the proposer's actual speech may be made until the Motion has been proposed and seconded.

No Amendments to Motions can be put until the proposer of the Motion and seconder (if not reserving their right to speak) have made their speech(es).

After a Motion has been proposed, seconded and the proposer has made his/her speech the Mayor will ask if any Member wishes to speak against the Motion. If no one wishes to speak against the Motion then the Mayor will put the matter to the vote.

This rule applies to business items on the agenda i.e those items considered under Rule 4.2.2.1 j-m).

4.2.13.2 Right to Require Motion in Writing

Unless notice of the Motion has already been given, the Mayor/Chairman may require it to be written down and circulated before it is proposed.

4.2.13.3 Seconder's Speech

When seconding a Motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their speech until later in the debate.

4.2.13.4 Content and Length of Speeches

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or point of order. No speech, except with the consent of the Council under <u>Rule 4.2.12q</u>, may exceed 3 minutes except in the case of:

a) the Leader of the Council or an Executive Member making a statement at Council who shall speak for no more than 5 minutes.

b) at the Budget Council meeting the Leader of the Council and the Leader of the Opposition shall speak for no more than 12 minutes each on the budget agenda item. The Leader of the Council will also have the opportunity to exercise his / her right of reply as set out in <u>Rule 4.2.13.5</u>

4.2.13.5 When a Member May Speak

A Member who has spoken on a Motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, except:

- a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member;
- b) to move a further amendment if the Motion has been amended since he/she last spoke;
- c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried);
- d) in exercise of a right of reply;
- e) on a point of order;
- f) by way of personal explanation;
- g) to move a Motion under <u>Rule 4.2.13.11</u> (Motions which can be moved during debate.)

4.2.13.6 Right of Reply

- a) The mover of a Motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the Motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.
- b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original Motion has the right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it
- c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on his/her amendment.

4.2.13.7 Amendments to Motions

Any amendments to Motions should, wherever possible, be provided to Democratic Services in advance of the meeting.

- a) An amendment to a Motion must:
 - i) be relevant to the Motion;
 - ii) not negate the meaning of the Motion;
- b) An amendment to a Motion can:
 - i) omit words;
 - ii) add words; or
 - iii) refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or reconsideration.

- c) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of.
- d) If the proposer of the original Motion accepts the proposed amendment it becomes his/her Motion (i.e. the substantive Motion) to which further amendments can be moved. No vote is required.
- e) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved.
- f) If an amendment is carried, the Motion as amended takes the place of the original Motion. This becomes the substantive Motion to which any further amendments are moved.
- g) After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor/Chairman will read out the amended Motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none or following the expiry of the 30-minute time limit, put it to the vote as the substantive Motion.

4.2.13.8 Alteration of Motion

- a) A Member may alter a Motion of which he/she has given notice with the consent of the meeting. The Mayor/Chairman may require the alteration to be written down and circulated before the consent of the meeting is sought. The consent will be signified by simple majority.
- b) A Member may alter a Motion which he/she has moved without notice with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting's consent will be signified by simple majority.
- c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.

4.2.13.9 Withdrawal of Motion

A Member may withdraw a Motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting's consent will be signified by simple majority. No Member may speak on the Motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused by the Mayor/Chairman.

4.2.13.10 Proposal by Another Member

Where a Member is unable through absence to propose a Motion of which he/she has given notice, that Motion may be proposed by another Member, provided that the Member who gave notice of the Motion has confirmed in writing to the Mayor/Chairman the name of the Member to whom the Motion has been delegated.

4.2.13.11 Motions Which May be Moved During Debate

When a Motion is under debate, no other Motion may be moved except the following procedural motions:

- a) to withdraw a Motion;
- b) to amend a Motion in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.13.1;</u>

- c) Closure Motions in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.13.12</u>
- d) that the meeting continue beyond 10.30pm;
- e) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules;
- f) to not hear further a Member named under Rule 4.2.20.3 or to exclude them from the meeting under Rule 4.2.20.4;
- g) to extend the time limit for speeches;
- h) To suspend a particular Rule of Procedure in accordance with Rule <u>4.2.25.1</u>

4.2.13.12 Closure Motions

- a) A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of another Member:
 - i) to proceed to the next business;
 - ii) that the question be now put;
 - iii) to adjourn a debate; or
 - iv) to adjourn a meeting.
- b) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Mayor/Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the closure Motion to the vote. If it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original Motion a right of reply before putting his/her Motion to the vote.
- c) If a Motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Mayor/Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the closure Motion to the vote. If it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original Motion a right of reply before putting his/her Motion to the vote.
- d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the Mayor/Chairman thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the closure motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply. Subject to <u>Rule 4.2.8.1</u>, unless the Mayor/Chairman specifies a date on which the Council will reconvene, any outstanding business will automatically stand referred to the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

4.2.13.13 Point of Order

A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor/Chairman will hear them immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The Member must indicate the Rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been broken. The ruling of the Mayor/Chairman on the matter will be final.

4.2.13.14 Personal Explanation

A Member may make a personal explanation at any time or may stand to declare an interest. A personal explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Mayor/Chairman on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final.

4.2.13.15 Responses by Officers

During the course of a debate, an Officer may be asked, through the Mayor/Chairman, to give a simple factual point of explanation, upon which there shall be no debate.

4.2.14 Previous Decisions and Motions

4.2.14.1 Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision

A Motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of Motion is signed by at least a quarter of the Members of the Council.

4.2.14.2 Motion Similar to One Previously Rejected

A Motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of the Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of Motion or amendment is signed by at least a quarter of the Members of the Council. Once the Motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar Motion or amendment for six months. Motions in these terms may only be proposed in relation to items of business on the published Agenda.

A Motion relating to the removal of the Leader if having been brought and rejected within the previous two months, would require to be signed by twice as many Members as the previous occasion.

4.2.14.3 Ruling of the Mayor/Chairman

The ruling of the Mayor/Chairman as to whether any Motion or amendment comes within the terms of <u>Rule 4.2.14.1</u> and <u>Rule 4.2.14.2</u> above shall be final and accepted without discussion.

4.2.14.4 Exemptions

Rule 4.2.14.1 and Rule 4.2.14.2 shall not apply to:

- a) decisions of the Regulatory Committees
- b) a Motion to carry out any statutory duty of the Council which, in the opinion of the Mayor/Chairman, is of an urgent nature.

4.2.15 Voting

4.2.15.1 Majority

Unless the Constitution or any statutory provision provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those Members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put.

The Mayor/Chairman shall ascertain the numbers voting for or against any question and his/her decision as to the result shall be conclusive.

4.2.15.2 Mayor/Chairman Casting Vote

If there are an equal numbers of votes for and against any matter, the Mayor/Chairman will have a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Mayor/Chairman chooses to exercise a casting vote.

4.2.15.3 Show of Hands

Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded under <u>Rules 4.2.15.4</u> and <u>4.2.15.5</u>, the Mayor/Chairman will take the vote by a show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting.

4.2.15.4 Ballots

The vote will take place by ballot if the majority of Members present at the meeting pass a Resolution under Procedure <u>Rule 4.2.12t</u>. The Mayor/Chairman will announce the numerical result of the ballot immediately the result is known.

4.2.15.5 Recorded Vote

If six Members present at the meeting request it before the vote is taken, the names for and against the Motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be recorded in the Minutes. A request for a recorded vote will override a request for a ballot.

Members, when asked to give their vote, should limit their response to either 'for', 'against' or 'abstain' and must not make any other comment.

A recorded vote will be required on any business relating to approving the budget, setting the council tax or issuing precepts.

4.2.15.6 Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded

Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained from voting.

4.2.15.7 Voting on Appointments

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.

4.2.16 Minutes

4.2.16.1 Signing the Minutes

The Mayor/Chairman will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting. The Mayor/Chairman will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record. Only the accuracy of the Minutes may be raised and this may only be done by a Motion which shall propose a change in wording which must be provided in writing to the Mayor/Chairman.

4.2.16.2 No Requirement to Sign Minutes of Previous Meeting at Extraordinary Meeting

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting is an extraordinary meeting, then the next following ordinary meeting will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purpose of signing of minutes.

4.2.17 Record of Attendance

The Chief Executive or his/her representative will keep a record of Members' attendance at meetings.

Only those Councillors who are members of a Committee, are asking a question or have been invited to participate in the meeting, will be recorded as being in attendance.

This will also apply to meetings of the Executive.

4.2.18 Exclusion of Public

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Chapter 3.2 of this Constitution or <u>Rule 4.2.21</u> (Disturbance by Public).

4.2.19 Petitions

4.2.19.1 General

Every petition shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the Borough.

4.2.19.2 Petitions Presented to Council

A Member of the Council may formally present a petition at any meeting of the Council, and prior to the start of the meeting must advise the Chief Executive of the subject matter of the petition.

Members will be entitled to speak for no more than three minutes in support of a petition. A member of the public may present a petition at any meeting of the Council and will be entitled to speak for no more than three minutes in support of the petition.

At the appropriate time in the meeting, the Mayor will call upon the Member or member of the public to present the petition to the Council, which shall automatically be referred without discussion or comment by any Member, to the appropriate Executive Member or a Committee or Board of the Council, as the Mayor shall determine, for consideration.

4.2.19.3 Petitions Presented to a Director

A Member of the Council may deliver a petition directly to a Director where it appears to that Member that the matter is more urgent than the ordinary Council meeting cycle could accommodate.

A Member of the public may deliver a petition directly to a Director.

In all cases, petitions will be dealt with in accordance with the Council's protocol relating to petitions as set out in Chapter 3.5.

4.2.20 Members' Conduct

4.2.20.1 Standing to Speak

When a Member speaks at Council they should stand and address the meeting through the Mayor, unless there are special circumstances which dictate otherwise. If more than one Member stands, the Mayor will ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other Members must remain seated whilst a Member is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation.

4.2.20.2 Mayor/Chairman Standing

When the Mayor/Chairman stands during a debate, any Member speaking at the time must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent.

4.2.20.3 Member Not to be Heard Further

If in the opinion of the Mayor/Chairman, a Member is behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, he/she may move that the Member be not heard further. If seconded, the Motion will be voted on without discussion.

4.2.20.4 Member to Leave the Meeting

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a Motion is carried, the Mayor/Chairman may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the Motion will be voted on without discussion.

4.2.20.5 General Disturbance

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Mayor/Chairman may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary.

4.2.21 Disturbance By Public

4.2.21.1 Removal of Member of the Public

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor/Chairman will warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Mayor/Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.

4.2.21.2 Clearance of Part of Meeting Room

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Mayor/Chairman may call for that part to be cleared.

.4.2.22 Business Of Objectionable Nature

4.2.22.1 Motions Put Forward by the Mayor/Chairman

If at any meeting the Mayor/Chairman is of the opinion that any Motion, amendment or business proposed to be moved or transacted is of an objectionable or undesirable character, with due regard to the interests and duties of the Council, it shall be competent for the Mayor/Chairman, either before or after the same is brought forward, to put to the vote a Motion (upon which no discussion shall be allowed) that the Motion, amendment or business in question be not entertained or further permitted. If such Motion is carried, the matter shall be considered as disposed of for that meeting

4.2.22.2 Motions Put Forward by Members

A Member may propose that a Motion, amendment or business of an objectionable nature be not entertained or permitted. The proposer of a Motion on these grounds must state the reasons he/she considers the Motion, amendment or business to be objectionable. The Mayor/Chairman will make a ruling on whether to allow the Motion to be put, having regard to any advice given by the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer.

4.2.23 Statements by The Leader of The Council, Executive Members and Deputy Executive Members

At each Ordinary meeting of the Council, provision shall be made for the Leader of the Council, Executive Members and Deputy Executive Members to make statements to the Council.

These statements shall primarily be to advise the Council of items of interest which have been dealt with by the Executive recently or are due to be dealt with in the near future. Speeches of a party political nature will not be allowed.

When making such a statement, no Member, except with the consent of the Council, shall speak for more than 5 minutes.

The time allowed for statements under this rule shall not exceed 20 minutes.

4.2.24 Statements from the Council Owned Companies

At each Ordinary meeting of the Council, provision shall be made for the Directors of the Council Owned Companies to make statements to the Council.

These statements shall primarily be to advise the Council of items of interest which have been dealt with the Companies recently or are due to be dealt with in the near future. Speeches of party political nature will not be allowed.

When making such a statement, no Director, except with the consent of the Council, shall speak for more than 3 minutes.

The time allowed for statements under this rule shall not exceed 10 minutes.

4.2.25 Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules

4.2.25.1 Suspension

All of these Council Rules of Procedure except <u>Rule 4.2.15.5</u> (Right to a Recorded Vote) and <u>4.2.16.2</u> (No requirement to sign Minutes at an Extraordinary Meeting) may be suspended by Motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole number of Members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting.

4.2.25.2 Amendment

Any Motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

4.2.26 Committees and Boards– Appointment of Chairman

Each of the Council's Committees and Boards shall, at its first meeting, prior to proceeding to any other business, elect a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman for the Municipal Year. In the absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, a Chairman for any meeting may be appointed from the Members present.

4.2.27 Extraordinary Meetings of Council Committees and Boards

The Chief Executive shall summon an Extraordinary meeting of a Committee or Board of the Council at any time at the request of

- a) the Chairman of the Committee or Board, or
- b) the Mayor, or
- c) one-quarter of the number of members of the Committee or Board, delivered in writing to the Chief Executive, and in no case shall less than three Members requisition a Extraordinary meeting

4.2.28 Attendance of Non-Members of Committees and Boards

A Member of the Council who is not a Member of a particular Committee or Board shall be entitled to attend and speak (but not vote) at any meeting. Members attending under this provision shall tell the Mayor/Chairman of the meeting in advance that they will be attending. Only Local Ward Members may address the Planning Committee in respect of applications within their Ward.

CHAPTER 4.3 – ROLES AND FUNCTION OF THE MAYOR

4.3.1 Role and Function of the Mayor

The Mayor and in his/her absence, the Deputy Mayor, will have a number of roles and functions which are described below.

4.3.2 Ceremonial Role

The Mayor is a symbol of the authority, a symbol of an open society and an expression of social cohesion.

The Mayor will attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council or he/she determines appropriate.

4.3.3 Chairing the Council Meeting

The Mayor will be elected by the Council at the Annual Meeting. The Mayor will have the following responsibilities:

- a) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution by acting impartially and to interpret the Constitution when necessary;
- b) to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the community;
- c) to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to the local community and the place at which Members who are not on the Executive are able to hold the Executive to account;
- d) to promote public involvement in the Council's activities and
- e) to call an extraordinary meeting of the Council to resolve any dispute between the Executive and the Council in connection with setting the budget and policy framework.

4.3.4 First Citizen

The Mayor shall take precedence (ie shall be the first citizen of Wokingham Borough).

4.3.5 Promotion of the Council

The Mayor will promote the Council as a whole and act as a focal point for the community.

4.3.6 The Scrutiny Process

The Mayor and Deputy Mayor are entitled to take part in the scrutiny process.

CHAPTER 4.4 - COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL – AUDIT COMMITTEE, HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AND SPECIAL COUNCIL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Statement of purpose

The committee's purpose is to provide an independent, objective and high-level focus on the adequacy of governance, risk and control arrangements. Its role in ensuring there is sufficient assurance over governance, risk and control gives greater confidence to all those charged with governance that those arrangements are effective.

The committee has oversight of both internal and external audit, and risk management, together with the financial and governance reports, helping to ensure there are adequate arrangements in place for both internal challenge and public accountability.

4.4.1 Composition and Meetings

Membership of the Audit Committee will be allocated in accordance with political balance rules. In addition, two independent members will be appointed to the Committee. The Committee shall meet four times per year in accordance with a schedule agreed by Council. Additional meetings may be arranged with the agreement of the Chair. The Audit Committee may appoint specialist advisors to support it in its work if required. Funding will be secured in advance of any appointment and financial commitment on a case by case basis.

4.4.2 Restrictions on Membership

Members of the Executive and Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall not be Members of the Audit Committee.

4.4.3 Functions

4.4.3.1 Governance, risk and control

- a) To review the council's corporate governance arrangements against the good governance framework, including the ethical framework, and consider the local code of governance.
- b) To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the council.
- c) To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee.
- d) To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the implementation of agreed actions.
- e) To consider reports on the effectiveness of financial management arrangements, including compliance with CIPFA's Financial Management Code.
- f) To consider the council's arrangements to secure value for money and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.
- g) To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the council from fraud and corruption

- h) To monitor the counter fraud strategy, actions and resources.
- i) To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant partnerships or collaborations.

4.4.3.2 Financial and governance reporting

Governance reporting

- a) To review the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) prior to approval and consider whether it properly reflects the risk environment and supporting assurances, including the head of internal audit's annual opinion.
- b) To consider whether the annual evaluation for the AGS fairly concludes that governance arrangements are fit for purpose, supporting the achievement of the authority's objectives.

Financial reporting

- a) To monitor the arrangements and preparations for financial reporting to ensure that statutory requirements and professional standards can be met, and that reporting is objective and fair
- b) To review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the council.
- c) To consider the external auditor's report to those charged with governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts.

4.4.3.3 Arrangements for audit and assurance

To consider the council's framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the council.

External audit

- a) To support the independence of external audit through consideration of the external auditor's annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) or the authority's auditor panel as appropriate.
- b) To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports including value for money, and the report to those charged with governance.
- c) To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.
- d) To review the external audit plan and comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for money.
- e) To consider additional commissions of work from external audit.
- f) To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external and internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies

g) To provide free and unfettered access to the audit committee chair for the auditors, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the committee.

Internal audit

- a) To support and oversee internal audit arrangements.
- b) To approve the internal audit charter.
- c) To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of internal audit services and to make recommendations.
- d) To review and scrutinise the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit's resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any work required to place reliance upon those other sources.
- e) To monitor progress against the internal audit plan and approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and resource requirements.
- f) To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the head of internal audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations.
- g) To consider any impairments to the independence or objectivity of the head of internal audit arising from additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing and to approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such impairments.
- h) To consider reports from the head of internal audit on internal audit's performance during the year, including the performance of external providers of internal audit services. These will include:
 - i) updates on the work of internal audit, including key findings, issues of concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work
 - ii) regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP)
 - iii) reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government Application Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-conformance is significant enough that it must be included in the AGS.
- i) To consider the head of internal audit's annual report, including:
 - i) the statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and Local Government Application Note (LGAN) and the results of the QAIP that support the statement (these will indicate the reliability of the conclusions of internal audit)
 - ii) the opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council's framework of
 - iii) governance, risk management and control, together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion (these will assist the committee in reviewing the AGS)

- j) To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.
- k) To monitor the implementation of internal audit recommendations by management and to receive reports outlining the action taken where the head of internal audit has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about progress with the implementation of agreed actions.
- I) To contribute to the QAIP and in particular to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes place at least once every five years.
- m) To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS where required to do so by the accounts and audit regulations
- n) To provide free and unfettered access to the audit committee chair for the head of internal audit, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the committee.

4.4.3.4 Accountability arrangements

- a) To report to those charged with governance on the committee's findings, conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of their governance, risk management and internal control frameworks, financial reporting arrangements and internal and external audit functions.
- b) To report to full council on a regular basis on the committee's performance in relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the committee in meeting its purpose.
- c) To publish an annual report to full Council on the work of the committee, including a conclusion on the compliance with the CIPFA Position Statement.

4.4.3.5 Training

To identify training opportunities for Audit Committee Members and all Members of the Council in corporate governance issues and to make recommendations as appropriate.

4.4.4 Reporting Lines

The Audit Committee shall make formal recommendations to Council as appropriate, in accordance with its functions described in <u>Rule 4.4.3</u>. The Minutes of the Committee shall be formally recorded and received by Council. The Chairman of the Committee shall draw to the attention of Council any issues that require action.

4.4.4.1

The Audit Committee shall have clear reporting lines and rights of access to other committees and functions, and make recommendations to these bodies as appropriate.

4.4.5 Review of Terms of Reference

These Terms of Reference shall be reviewed on an annual basis. Any changes proposed by the Assistant Director Governance, in consultation with the Chair, shall be submitted to the Council for approval.

4.4.6 Public and Member Questions

Public and Member questions can be asked in accordance with the requirements set out in <u>Chapter 4.2</u> of this Constitution.

4.4.7 Petitions

Petitions can be submitted to the Audit Committee subject to the requirements of the Council's Petition Protocol described in Chapter 3.5 of this Constitution.

4.4.8 Quorum

The quorum of a meeting of the Audit Committee shall be three.

4.4.9 Speaking Rights

A Member of the Council who is not a Member of the Committee shall be entitled to attend and speak (but not vote) at any full meeting of the Audit Committee. Members attending under the provision shall notify the Chair of the Committee in advance that they will be attending.

Members of the public or other organisations shall only be entitled to speak at a full meeting of the Committee by invitation from the Chair.

4.4.10 Disturbance by Public

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their removal from the meeting room. If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chair may call for that part to be cleared.

4.4.11 Duration of Meeting

As set out in <u>Chapter 4.2</u>, unless the majority of Members present vote for the meeting to continue, any meeting of the Audit Committee that has not concluded by 10.30pm will adjourn immediately. If, once a motion to continue has been proposed and seconded, the majority of Members present vote to continue, the meeting will continue for a further period not exceeding 30 minutes.

Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If he/she does not fix a date the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

SPECIAL COUNCIL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

4.4.12 Composition and Functions

Where, as a matter of urgency any decision or direction of Council is required and cannot be reasonably delayed until an ordinary meeting of the Council, such decision shall be made by the Special Council Executive Committee. The Special Council Executive Committee shall have the delegated authority to exercise all of the powers and duties of the Council. The Minutes will be reported to the next ordinary Council meeting for information.

4.4.12.1

The Special Council Executive Committee shall consist of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor, together with such Members of the Council concerned as to satisfy the political balance requirements or, in their absence or unavailability, their authorised Substitutes (<u>Rule</u>)

<u>4.4.14</u>). The allocation of seats on the Special Council Executive Committee will be agreed at Annual Council.

4.4.12.2

The Special Council Executive Committee is a Committee of the Council for the purposes of Section 101(a) of the Local Government Act 1972 with power to take urgency decisions within the delegated powers of the Council.

4.4.13 Appointment of Substitutes

The Council shall appoint Members to serve as Substitutes, so as to ensure that each Political Group represented on the Committee has one substitute each. A substitute shall deputise for a member of the Committee unable to attend, and shall inherit the voting rights of that member of the Committee for whom they are deputising.

4.4.13.1

Substitutes shall ordinarily be appointed at the same time as the Special Council Executive Committee and thereafter as necessary but in no case for a period beyond the next Annual Meeting of the Council.

4.4.14 Public and Member Questions

Public and Member questions will only be accepted at meetings of the Special Council Executive Committee if they relate to the item(s) due to be discussed at that meeting.

Public questions must be submitted in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.9</u> and Member questions must be submitted in accordance with <u>Rule 4.2.10</u>. The process set out in <u>Rules 4.2.9</u> and <u>4.2.10</u> will also apply to public and Member questions.

4.4.15 Petitions

Petitions may not be submitted at meetings of the Special Council Executive Committee.

4.4.16 Quorum

The quorum of a meeting of the Special Council Executive Committee shall be three.

4.4.17 Disturbance by Public

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Mayor will order their removal from the meeting room.

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Mayor may call for that part to be cleared.

4.4.18 Rules of Debate

Debates at the Special Council Executive Committee shall take place in accordance with the rules laid down in <u>Chapter 4.2</u>.

If the Executive Member responsible for the item under discussion is not a member of the Committee, then they will be invited to attend the meeting in order to introduce the report and answer any questions that the Committee may have.

4.4.19 Duration of Meeting

As set out in <u>Chapter 4.2</u> unless the majority of Members present vote for the meeting to continue, any meeting of the Special Council Executive Committee that has not concluded

by 10.30pm will adjourn immediately. If, once a motion to continue has been proposed and seconded, the majority of Members present vote to continue, the meeting will continue for a further period not exceeding 30 minutes.

Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor. If he/she does not fix a date the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

4.4.20 Other Committees, Sub-Committees and Working Groups

The Council may establish any other Committees, Sub-Committees and Working Groups as it considers appropriate from time to time.

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

4.4.21 Introduction

Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 the Council¹ is required to establish a Health and Wellbeing Board. The Board is responsible for identifying the current and future social care and health needs of the local area through a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is also responsible for developing a Health and Wellbeing Strategy that sets out the local social care and health priorities, provides a framework for the commissioning of local health and social care services and has oversight of health and wellbeing outcomes.

4.4.22 Roles and Responsibilities

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will have the following responsibilities:

- a) work in partnership to improve the health and wellbeing of the population;
- b) work in partnership to reduce inequalities in health across the Borough, including the difference in healthy life expectancy between the most and least deprived communities in the Borough;
- c) to create, approve, own and monitor the delivery of a Health and Wellbeing Strategy;
- d) to establish and monitor Partnership Boards as required to help deliver required service change and improved health and wellbeing outcomes for residents of Wokingham in line with the Health and Wellbeing Strategy;
- e) oversee the delivery of any strategies that have an impact on health and wellbeing across all member organisations;
- f) be responsible for bringing together public and voluntary service organisations in order to improve health and wellbeing of the population of Wokingham Borough;
- g) the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will exercise strategic leadership of public, private and community services in the promotion of health and wellbeing;
- promote integration of health and wellbeing services and work in partnership with all member organisations to improve the health and wellbeing of residents;
- i) ensure that the building blocks to health and wellbeing such as housing, environment, education and employment are included in local strategies and plans to improve health and wellbeing;
- j) produce a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) to identify the current and future health and social care needs across Wokingham. The JSNA will inform priorities and objectives for health and social care services in Wokingham and be used to monitor progress and health and wellbeing outcomes;
- k) prepare, consult, monitor and publish a local pharmaceutical needs assessment in accordance with national guidelines to support understanding of local need for pharmacy provision.
- Oversee the joint commissioning arrangements for health and social care across Wokingham. Maintain oversight of the commissioning intentions across all member organisations that impact on health and wellbeing;

¹ The Board is a committee of the Council by virtue of the Health & Social Care Act 2012 and Local Authority (Public Health, Health & Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013

m) listen to and learn from residents and communities about their needs and experience of health and care services, involving them in the planning and monitoring of the health and wellbeing services.

The Board will be accountable to the public for the delivery of work within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the associated Wokingham Strategy into Action, and to Government for the reduction of health inequalities within Wokingham Borough. The Board will monitor the implementation of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the associated Strategy into Action against clearly defined outcome measures.

When producing the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the associated Strategy into Action, the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board must:

- a) consider how the needs identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment may be addressed through partnership arrangements between the Council, NHS bodies, voluntary and community Sector organisations and allied public service organisations;
- b) have regard to the mandate the NHS England has received from the Secretary of State;
- c) involve the Local Healthwatch and those who live or work in the local authority area;
- d) have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State;
- e) encourage joint working between the Council, NHS bodies and the voluntary and community are sector regarding improvements in health and wellbeing and promote the integration of NHS and Council services where this will lead to better care for residents
- f) review the BOB Integrated Care System (ICS) Plan each year against the priorities in the local Strategy, assess whether the Plan has adequately taken the Strategy into account and question whether its programmes have led to improvements in those needs and priorities identified within the Borough;
- g) take account of and comment on the appropriateness of the NHS England plan for services within the Borough.
- h) review the contribution of local authority services and programmes to addressing the identified health and wellbeing needs and priorities;
- hold to account its constituent member organisations in meeting their responsibilities to promote the health and wellbeing of the community, to address health inequalities, to address the issues identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and for implementation of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

4.4.23 Membership

The membership of the Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board will be as follows:

- a) Leader of the Council
- b) Executive Member with responsibility for Children's Services
- c) Executive Member with responsibility for Health and Wellbeing
- d) Chief Executive
- e) Deputy Chief Executive

- f) Director with statutory responsibility for Children's Services
- g) Director with statutory responsibility for Adult Social Services
- h) Director with responsibility for Planning and Localities
- i) Director of Public Health
- j) Two representatives from the Berkshire West Place Team/Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire, Berkshire West Integrated Care System
- k) Representative from Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust
- I) Representative from Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
- m) Representative from local Healthwatch
- n) Representative of National Health Service England (for the purpose of participating in the Board's preparation of the Wokingham Needs Assessment and/or Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy or if the Board is considering a matter which relates to the exercise or proposed exercise of the commissioning functions of the NHS England in relation to the local authority area covered by the Board).
- o) An elected Member from the Opposition
- p) Two representatives from the Strategic Partnerships, representing the Community Safety Partnership and the Business, Skills and Enterprise Partnership
- q) Two representatives from the Voluntary Sector
- r) Representative from Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board may appoint such additional persons to be members of the Board as it thinks appropriate. The appointment of any additional members to the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will take place at Board meetings.

4.4.24 Co-optees

With the agreement of the Board, individuals may be co-opted to the Board for an agreed period.

Representatives from other key partners may be invited to attend the Board where there is a specific agenda item which includes their engagement. Representatives attending in this capacity will be non-voting attendees.

4.4.25 Appointment of Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board

Elected Members of the Council will be appointed to the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board at the Council's Annual Council Meeting.

Nominations for the elected Member representative(s) and their substitutes on the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be made by the Leader of the Council.

No member of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board may be a member of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Director of Public Health, Director with statutory responsibility for Adult Social Services and the Director with statutory responsibility for Children's Services will be members of the Board by virtue of their office.

Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire, and Berkshire West Integrated Care Board (also referred to as BOB ICB) will appoint two people to represent it on the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board.

The Local Healthwatch organisation for the local authority will appoint a person to represent it on the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board.

Each constituent organisation will notify Democratic Services of its nominated representative(s) and any changes made.

Should Board members cease to be an elected Member of the Council, or no longer hold the relevant Executive Member position or represent any of the bodies set out in Rule 4.4.23 above or cease to hold the relevant Director post, they will cease to be a member of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board.

4.4.26 Voting

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will generally reach decisions by consensus, but in the event of a vote being required there will be one vote per Board Member.

4.4.27 Substitutes

If representatives are unable to attend a Board meeting they may nominate a substitute to act in their place (including vote on their behalf) at the meeting. The appointment shall only take effect if the representative unable to attend notifies Democratic Services, no later than midday of the day of the meeting that they will be unable to attend the meeting and the name of the substitute member.

The substitute for the Executive Member representatives will be the Deputy Executive Member for that post and the substitute for the Leader of the Council will be the Deputy Leader of the Council. The substitute for the Opposition Member will be another member of the Opposition and will be nominated by the Leader.

4.4.28 Chairing of the meeting

The Chair will be an elected Member of Wokingham Borough Council. The Chairman of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be appointed at the first meeting of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board of the municipal year.

The Vice Chair of the Board will be appointed at the first meeting of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board of the municipal year and can be any other member of the Board.

4.4.29 Accountability

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be accountable to each of the Board's constituent member organisations for the quality and relevance of the process of identification of local health and social care needs and priorities and for the effectiveness of programmes to address these issues.

It will be accountable for its performance to the Local Authority through reporting to Council at least once a year.

4.4.30 Supply of Information to the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board may, for the purpose of enabling or assisting it to perform its functions, request specific information from the following:

- a) the local authority;
- b) any person who represents the Local Healthwatch on the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board;
- c) any person who represents the BOB ICS on the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board;
- d) any person appointed to the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board as an additional member.

Information must relate to:

- a) a function of the person (organisation) to whom the request is made; or
- b) a person in respect of whom a function is exercisable by that person (organisation).

4.4.31 Scrutiny

The priorities and programmes of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be subject to scrutiny primarily by the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will provide an update to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on an annual basis to enable it to fulfil its responsibilities of scrutiny.

4.4.32 Quorum

The quorum of a meeting of the Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board shall be four. Representatives from Wokingham Borough Council and the BOB ICB must be in attendance at each meeting. If neither the Chair nor Vice Chair is present a Chair will be elected for that meeting. Substitute voting members for the Chair and Vice Chair, for that meeting will be identified prior to the meeting.

If there is no quorum at the published start time for the meeting, a period of no more than 10 minutes will be allowed, and if there remains no quorum at the expiry of this period, the meeting will be declared null and void.

4.4.33 Frequency of Meetings

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board shall schedule a minimum of 6 meetings a year. Additional (extraordinary) meetings may take place with the agreement of the Chair. Dates, times, and locations of meetings will be agreed by the Board and published.

The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board shall usually be a single item only and there shall be no consideration of previous minutes.

4.4.34 Attendance of Public and Press

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will meet in public, unless confidential or exempt information is to be discussed, and the Access to Information Rules contained in Chapter 3.2 of this Constitution set out the requirements covering public meetings. The principles of decision making set out in Chapter 1.4 will apply to meetings of the Board.

4.4.35 Public and Member Questions

Public and Member questions can be asked in accordance with the requirements set out in <u>Chapter 4.2</u> of this Constitution.

In addition questions may also be asked about matters for which the other member organisations have a responsibility.

The total time allotted questions from the public will be limited to 30 minutes and Member questions will be limited to 20 minutes. The total time allotted to public and Member Questions may be extended at the discretion of the Chairman.

4.4.36 Petitions

Petitions will not be accepted at meetings of the Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board. Petitions relating to the Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board's responsibilities may, however, be submitted at meetings of full Council. Details of the Council's Petition Protocol can be found at Chapter 3.5

Petitions which relate to the responsibilities of the Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board member organisations other than the Council will be forwarded to the appropriate organisation.

4.4.37 Speaking Rights

A Member of the Council who is not a member of the Board shall be entitled to attend and speak (but not vote) at any full public at the discretion of the Chair. Members attending under this provision shall advise the Chair of the Board in advance that they will be attending. Members of the public or other organisations shall only be entitled to speak regarding presentation items by invitation from the Chair.

4.4.38 Disturbance by Public

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their removal from the meeting room.

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chair may call for that part to be cleared.

4.4.39 Signing the Minutes

The Chair shall sign off the minutes as a true and accurate record of the meeting at the next suitable meeting. Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting is an extraordinary meeting, then the next following ordinary meeting will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purpose of signing of minutes.

Minutes of meetings will be available on the Council's website.

4.4.40 Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board Partnership Groups

The Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be mindful of its powers to appoint one or more sub-groups or sub-committees to discharge of any of its functions, with certain conditions. The Board may also appoint advisory groups, working groups or informal 'task and finish groups' to make recommendations to it on any of its functions. The work programme of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be monitored by the Wokingham Health & Wellbeing Strategy into Action Steering Group.

The work programme of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be implemented through the following Partnership Groups:

- a) Children and Young People Strategic Partnership
- b) Community Safety Partnership
- c) Wokingham Integrated Partnership
- d) Physically Active Communities
- e) Dementia Alliance
- f) Social Isolation and Loneliness Action Group
- g) Carers Strategy Action Group
- h) Learning Disabilities Partnership
- i) Combatting Drugs Partnership

The Partnership Groups will have responsibility for the implementation of designated programmes within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The Partnership Groups will report periodically to the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy into Action Steering Group on the aspects of their work programme which are within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, no less than twice a year.

4.4.41 Code of Conduct

All voting members of the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board will be subject to the Local Code of Conduct for Members set out in Chapter 9.2 of this Constitution.

4.4.42 Review of Terms of Reference

The terms of reference will be reviewed a year from the date of adoption and thereafter at least biennially. Any changes proposed shall be submitted to Council for approval.



PROTOCOL FOR HOLDING VIRTUAL MEETINGS

	Contents	Page No
1.	Introduction	42
2.	Technical Overview	42
3.	Prior to Meeting	42
4.	Members Attending Virtual Meetings	43
5.	Members of the Public Attending Virtual Meetings	44
6.	Specific Rules Relating to Member and Public	45
	Participation at Planning Committee Meetings	
7.	Conduct of a Virtual Meeting	45
8.	Dealing with Technical Difficulties	48
9.	Disruptions	49
10.	Comment and Feedback	50

Version 2

June 2020 Updates made – November 2020

1. Introduction

1.1 Until April 2020, Wokingham Borough Council held a wide range of public decisionmaking meetings, mainly at the Council Offices in Wokingham. The national "lockdown" and social distancing measures arising out of the Covid-19 pandemic meant that alternative arrangements had to be made for the introduction of "virtual" meetings.

1.2 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 ("the Regulations") have enacted provisions which provide flexibility to the Council in the manner in which they may hold such meetings.

1.3 The Regulations, which took effect as of 4 April 2020 and apply until 7 May 2021 (or earlier if agreed by Government), enable Councils to hold meetings which Members may attend remotely.

1.4 The following protocol has been set up in order to provide assistance to the public, Members and Officers in the organisation in the conduct of virtual committee meetings at Wokingham Borough Council all of which will be held via Microsoft Teams (MS Teams). The principal aim of this document is to facilitate as many of the constitutional rules and procedures as possible, whilst recognising the limitations and challenges that virtual meetings present.

2. Technical Overview

2.1 Meetings will be held via Microsoft Teams (MS Teams) and it is the intention that all public meetings (with the exception of when exempt/confidential items are discussed) will be live streamed on the Council's YouTube Channel.

2.2 Members should ensure that they have MS Teams installed on their laptop/device and familiarise themselves with the system. In advance of their first meeting Members should read the MS Teams Quick Guide (which has been provided to all Members and is available on request from Democratic Services) and if required set up a test call with Democratic Services/IT to run through the software's functionality.

3. Prior to Meeting

3.1 <u>Publication of Agendas</u>

Meeting agendas will be published 5 clear working days prior to each meeting and all agenda papers (except for exempt/confidential items) will be available electronically on the Council's website.

A note will be added to the agenda front sheet for each meeting advising the public that the meeting will be held virtually and providing a link to the YouTube site where the meeting can be viewed.

Members of a particular committee will be emailed the direct link to the online agenda and will be sent a copy of the agenda pack with their meeting invitation. No physical paper

copies of the agenda will be printed. The only exception to this will be Planning Committee agendas which will only be sent to members of that committee.

3.2 <u>Submission of Public and Member Questions</u>

For those meetings where Public and Member questions form part of the agenda these may be submitted in accordance with the deadlines set out on the Council's website and in the Council's Constitution.

3.3 Invitations to Meetings

A calendar invite, containing a link to join the MS Teams meeting as well as, in case of difficulties joining the meeting, instructions on how to access the audio link by dialling-in to the meeting will be sent to Members of the relevant committee, those Members who have submitted a question or been invited to speak at the committee, and Officers supporting that committee.

Members of the public who have submitted a question to a committee will also receive a calendar invite containing a link to join that meeting as well as, in case of difficulties joining the meeting, instructions on how to access the audio link by dialling-in to the meeting.

Ensure that you can access the calendar invite on whatever device (including any backups) you are intending to use to join the meeting. It is advisable to copy and paste the MS Teams link and dial-in details set out in the calendar invite into a word document or e-mail them to yourself so that the meeting can still be accessed if any technical issues occur on the day.

4. Members Attending Virtual Meetings

4.1 Virtual meetings are joined by accessing the Calendar on your device, opening the meeting invite and clicking the "join meeting" link – this will automatically re-direct you to the MS Teams application.

4.2. Members must endeavour to join virtual meetings promptly at least 10 minutes before the scheduled start. Any external participants will be placed in a virtual lobby and will be admitted to the meeting by the Clerk when the meeting is ready to start. Please note that if a Member uses their personal account to access the meeting they will also be placed in the virtual lobby and their e-mail address will be visible by other participants. In addition to ensure that the "hands up" facility is available for voting purposes Members should always use their wokingham.gov.uk e-mail address to access any virtual meeting.

4.3. Members must ensure their microphones are muted when not speaking in order to reduce feedback and background noise. If Members ignore this request they may be muted by the clerk. Participants should ensure that any background noise is turned off and that any pets are moved into another room.

4.4 Unless they are speaking Members, other than the Chairman, should keep their cameras switched off.

4.5 Members are advised to sit in a quiet room, preferably with a plain background. If this is not possible, they should set a virtual background by clicking on "more options" (the

three dots in the middle of the screen) and selecting "show background effects" from the list. If using a MS Teams background do try not to move around a lot as you will no longer be visible onscreen should you move outside of the background's parameters.

4.6 Members should ensure that the room has adequate lighting. If it is too dark viewers will not be able to see you clearly. Minimise distracting glare by pulling shades down on windows and doors.

4.7 If it is not possible to attend a meeting using the videoconferencing facilities, Members must attend by audio link (dial-in details will be included in the calendar invite). If using this option, Members must inform the Clerk in advance of the meeting of the number they will be calling from so they can be identified at the meeting.

4.8 Members must ensure they have the relevant meeting papers open and ready to use before the start of the meeting. The relevant agenda pack will be attached to the meeting invite or alternatively the agenda can be accessed via the Modern.gov app or the Council website. Where possible/practical, the use of a second or split screen is also recommended.

4.9 Members must conduct themselves in a professional manner throughout the meeting, as they would do at a face to face meeting. Since meetings will be live streamed and viewed by the public Members should also dress appropriately as they would if they were attending a meeting in the Council Offices.

4.10 Members are reminded that the chat function is public and also if they are in a public place (including at home with open windows) they may be overheard.

5. Members of the Public Attending Virtual Meetings

5.1. Members of the public and the press will be able to watch any public meeting (except for those where exempt or confidential information is to be discussed) by accessing the live stream on the Council's YouTube channel: https://www.youtube.com/user/WokinghamBC/featured?disable_polymer=1. Details on how to access a specific live stream will be included within the public notice of the meeting and a link to the relevant area on YouTube can be found on the meeting agenda page on the Council's website.

5.2 Members of the public and Councillors can submit questions to most committees including Council, Executive, Audit, Overview and Scrutiny and Wokingham Wellbeing Board provided they are submitted in accordance with the rules set out in the Council's Constitution and on the website. Any member of the public who has submitted a question to a committee will be sent an MS Teams invite to participate in the remote meeting for the duration of the item in question. They can also join the meeting via an audio link details of which can be found in the meeting invite.

5.3 On the day of the meeting, the member of the public must click on the link /enter the dial-in details at least 5 minutes before the meeting where they will be placed in a "lobby" until the meeting is due to start. Their camera should be turned off and their microphone muted until it is their turn to speak.

5.4 Public questions will be taken in the order they are received which will be set out in the agenda and all relevant time limits as set out in the Council's Constitution i.e. question time and responses will be adhered to. Questions will be responded to at the meeting. One supplementary question may also be asked. Once your questions have been asked and responses provided you should switch off your camera, your microphone will be muted and you will not be able to participate any further in the meeting. If for any reason you are unable to attend the meeting you will receive a written response to your question.

6. Specific Rules Relating to Member and Public Participation at Planning Committee Meetings

6.1 Public speaking rights specific to Planning Committee meetings are as set out in Section 8.2.5 (Public Speaking Rights) of the Constitution.

6.2 If Ward Members, Town and Parish Councillors and members of the public are unable to attend the meetings they will, in addition to any comments previously submitted, be able to provide a further statement to the Committee. This can be done by following the instructions below.

- The statement must be submitted to Democratic Services by 5pm on the working day prior to the committee meeting;
- Comments will be split into the following categories: Town and Parish Councils, Objectors, Supporters (including applicants and agents) and Ward Members. If you submit a statement within your category then it should be no more than 390 words (please note that 130 words equates to approximately one minute of speaking time). However, if more than one statement is received in any of the above categories, or another person has registered to speak at the meeting in the same category, you will be contacted by Democratic Services and asked to reduce your word limit accordingly. Statements must be received by 10am on the 2nd working day prior to the committee meeting;
- The statement will be read out at the meeting by a member of the Committee during consideration of the relevant planning application.

7. Conduct of a Virtual Meeting

7.1 <u>Quorum</u>

The number of Members required to be present for a quorum for a meeting is set out in the Council's Constitution. The quorum must remain during the entirety of a meeting.

If at any point in the meeting it becomes inquorate the meeting will either, in the case of a Member dropping out of the meeting, be adjourned until such time as the Member re-joins the meeting or if it is not possible to re-join the meeting will be abandoned until such time as it can be reconvened

7.2 <u>Opening the Meeting</u>

At the scheduled time, the Mayor/Chairman will open the meeting, welcome everyone present and make introductory comments.

The Mayor/Chairman will advise the meeting if the meeting is being live streamed before any discussion takes place.

In the case of technical issues with the live steam the committee may decide to utilise the "record a meeting" option. If agreed to do so, the Clerk will select the appropriate option and start the recording. This option will be used only with the explicit agreement of all participants before any discussion takes place. The recording will be made publicly available after the meeting.

7.3 Introductions and Apologies for Absence

The Mayor/Chairman will either introduce those Members and Officers in attendance or ask the Members and Officers to introduce themselves.

7.4 Declarations of Interest

The Mayor/Chairman must follow the usual procedures and ask if any Members wish to declare any interests.

Any Member declaring a personal interest will be able to remain in the virtual meeting and will be able to take part in the discussion and vote on the particular matter.

Any Member who declares a prejudicial interest, which would normally require them to leave the room, must leave the virtual meeting for the duration of the discussion of that item and will not be able to participate in the meeting. The Mayor/Chairman will state when the Member has left the meeting. Depending on the order in which items are heard, the Member will be re-admitted to the meeting by the Clerk.

7.5 Minutes of the Meeting

The Mayor/Chairman will follow one of the following methods:

- ask each Member to state whether or not they agree with the accuracy of the minutes;
- state that it is assumed that the minutes are agreed unless anyone advises that they disagree.

The Mayor/Chairman will decide which of the above methods is to be used. The Mayor/Chairman will advise that the minutes will be physically signed at a later date.

7.6 Discussion of Agenda Items/Reports

The Mayor/Chairman will invite Members/Officers to present reports in the usual way.

If referring to a specific section of an agenda/report Members and Officers must clearly state the page and/or paragraph number and pause for a few seconds to allow everyone

to find the relevant section. On some occasions it may be appropriate to show the relevant section on the screen.

Supplementary documents will not be tabled at virtual meetings. Therefore any supplementary documents must be submitted to the Clerk as early as possible on the day of the meeting in order that they can be circulated to all participants and added to the relevant agenda page on the website.

Visual content such as presentations, maps or images (particularly relevant for Planning and Licensing meetings) must be shared with other participants using the "Share Screen" function on the bar in the middle of the screen (the function is only available when using a laptop/PC and depending on the internet connection may slow the user's device). Alternatively, a copy can be shared with the Clerk who will be asked to display the slides when directed.

Once the report has been introduced, the Mayor/Chairman will open the discussion by using one of the following methods:

- asking if anyone wishes to speak/raise any questions;
- asking each Member of the committee if they have any comments/questions;
- going through the list of speakers which has been provided by the relevant Groups in advance of the meeting.

The Mayor/Chairman will decide which of the above methods is to be used. Members may indicate their wish to speak by using the MS Teams "hands up" function, sending a message using the meeting "chat" function and waiting until invited by the Mayor/Chairman to speak, or by speaking up. Please note that the meeting "chat" must only be used for committee-related questions/comments as any messages posted will be visible to all participants present and will appear on the live stream.

Members should aim to keep their questions clear and concise, avoiding unnecessary repetition. The Mayor/Chairman will ask Members of the committee if they have any further points to raise before completing the discussion on the item and moving to the next item.

7.7 <u>Voting</u>

Unless a recorded vote is called for voting will be carried out using one of the following methods:

- the Mayor/Chairman will call out the name of each committee Member present asking them to state whether they are "for", "against" or wish to "abstain";
- if the Mayor/Chairman feels from the discussions that there is a consensus in how Members wish to vote he/she will state that they believe the committee wishes to vote in a particular way unless a Member advises them otherwise;
- use the "hands up" feature on MS Teams. This method will only be used if the majority of Members attending the meeting have access to and the ability to use this feature. Prior to any vote taking place the Mayor/Chairman will state that this method of voting will be used and ask those Members in attendance, who are entitled to vote, to advise him/her if they are unable to use the "hands up" feature. The vote will be carried out as follows:
 - The Mayor/Chairman will ask Members to use the "hands up" feature to show whether they are "for", "against" or wish to "abstain";

- Between each of these votes Members must ensure that they put their "hands down" and that they don't vote twice; If a Member realises that they have voted twice, they should speak up and indicate which way they had intended to vote. If others present in the meeting become aware that a Member has voted twice but not spoken up, the Mayor will be informed and will ask the Member how they intended to vote;
- Those Members who do not have the "hands up" feature will then be asked individually whether they are "for", "against" or wish to "abstain";
- use other electronic voting systems if available.

In addition for Council meetings the following method may also be used:

 the Mayor will ask each Group Leader in turn to state how many of their Members wish to vote in a particular way i.e. "for" or "against" the recommendation(s). If the vote is not unanimous then the Group Leader will state how many of their Members wish to vote in a particular way (this will usually be the view of the majority of those Members) and then name those Members who are of a different view and how they wish to vote e.g. "for", "against" or "abstain". The Mayor will then ask the Members of that Group if anyone disagrees with the information their Group Leader has provided;

The Mayor/Chairman will decide which of the above methods are to be used for a particular agenda item.

7.8 Exclusion of the Press and Public

If the agenda of a meeting includes any private or exempt items, then a separate private virtual meeting must be set up by the Clerk and invitations sent only to the required participants.

Before any discussion takes place, each participant at the private session must ensure that there are no persons at their location who would be able to hear or see the proceedings during such meetings or part of meetings.

Any Member attending a virtual meeting who fails to disclose that there are persons present in their location who would be able to hear or see the proceedings, who are not so entitled will be in breach of the Council's Members' Code of Conduct.

7.9 <u>Closing the Meeting</u>

The Mayor/Chairman will close the meeting in the usual way.

The Clerk will record the end time of the meeting and stop the live stream.

8. Dealing with Technical Difficulties

If the Mayor/Chairman loses connection then the Deputy Mayor/Vice Chairman will take over the chairing of the meeting. If they both lose connection then provided the meeting is still quorate another member of the Committee will be elected Chair for the remainder of the meeting and take over chairing the meeting. If a Member experiences a technical problem and disconnects from the virtual meeting, but the meeting remains quorate, then the meeting will continue and any necessary vote taken. If the Member cannot re-establish their connection then they should use the audio link details of which can be found in their meeting invitation.

In the event that the Mayor/Chairman or Democratic Services Officer identifies a failure of the remote participation facility the Mayor/Chairman will declare an adjournment while the fault is addressed.

If it is not possible to address the fault and the meeting is inquorate the meeting will be abandoned until such time as it can be reconvened. If the meeting is quorate and provided, it is accessible to members of the public, the meeting will continue. Those attending remotely will accept that the meeting will continue and a vote may be taken in their absence.

If there is a fault which means the meeting is no longer being live webcast then the Clerk will, with the permission of the Mayor/Chairman and all attendees, record the meeting and publish the recording on the website at a later date.

9. Disruptions

The Mayor/Chairman/Clerk can mute participants, including voting Members, should they consider their behaviour to be inappropriate or disruptive.

Should either a Member or a participant become disruptive, the Mayor/Chairman will warn them and should that warning not result in a change of behaviour they will be authorised to terminate that person's participation in the meeting.

In the case of disruptive behaviour, the Mayor/Chairman will be entitled to ask the Clerk or another support officer to mute or remove a participant from the meeting.

10. Comment and Feedback

The Council recognises that the move to virtual meetings, although necessary, has been challenging for Members, Officers and the public. We will be reviewing the Protocol on a regular basis to ensure that lessons learnt from holding virtual meetings are taken into account and the document updated accordingly. We would therefore welcome any feedback on the Protocol and the process to date and any suggestions for future improvements.

If you would like to submit any comments please contact Democratic Services using the following e-mail address: <u>Democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk</u>

This page is intentionally left blank